WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Court of Appeals No. 46875-1-II Supreme Court No. <u>93060-1</u>

JOHN A. HIVELY,

Appellant,

v.

PORT OF SKAMANIA COUNTY, WASHINGTON, a Washington municipal corporation,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

BRADLEY W. ANDERSEN, WSBA No. 20640 LANDERHOLM, P.S. 805 Broadway Street, Suite 1000 P.O. Box 1086 Vancouver, WA 98666-1086 (360) 696-3312 Of Attorneys for Appellant John A. Hively

I. INTRODUCTION
II. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER
III. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION 3
IV. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW
V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
A. Hively trips and falls on a poorly maintained public path leading to the park's public restrooms
B. The Port is responsible for the waterfront park and charges a fee for its use
C. While generally open to the public, the Port charges fees for certain uses of the Waterfront property
D. Procedural Posture
1. The trial court granted the Port's Motion for Summary Judgment6
2. Division II affirms trial court's decision
VI. ARGUMENTS8
A. The Supreme Court should accept review because (1) the courts have issued different rulings on substantially similar facts and (2) issues of substantial public interest are at stake
A. Washington's recreational immunity statute only applies to those property owners who don't charge a "fee of any kind."
B. The Decision here conflicts with other decisions
C. Division II's Opinion creates (1) a dangerous precedent for patrons who reasonably expect facilities to be safe and (2) doubt for those property owners who seek indemnification
VII. CONCLUSION

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Page
Cases
Camicia v. Howard S. Wright Constr. Co.,
179 Wn.2d 684, 317 P.3d 987 (2014)9
Davis v. State,
144 Wn.2d 612, 30 P.3d 460 (2001)9
Ertl v. Parks & Recreation Comm'n,
76 Wn. App. 110, 882 P.2d 1185 (1994)
Jewels v. City of Bellingham,
183 Wn.2d 388, 353 P.3d 204 (2015)
<i>Kleer v. United States</i> , 761 F.2d 1492 (11th Cir. 1985)
McNeal v. Allen, 95 Wn.2d 265,
621 P.2d 1285 (1980)
Mucsi v. Graoch Assocs. P'ship # 12, 144 Wn.2d 847,
31 P.3d 684 (2001)
Plano v. City of Renton,
103 Wash. App. 910, 14 P.3d 871 (2000)
Plano v. City of Renton,
103 Wn. App. 910, 14 P.3d 871 (2000)passim
Tennyson v. Plum Creek Timber Co., 73 Wash. App. 550,
872 P.2d 524 (1994)
<i>Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological Society</i> , 124 Wn.2d 121, 875 P.2d 621 (1994)
Van Dinter v. City of Kennewick,
121 Wn.2d 38, 846 P.2d 522 (1993)9
Voss v. United States,
2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6024 (U.S. District Court for the Western
District of Washington)
Statutes
Statutes
RCW 4.24.2009
RCW 4.24.2101, 6, 8, 9, 10, 17

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

Bathrooms matter.¹ And paths, even those less traveled, ² to those bathrooms are equally important.

This case involves the statutory interpretation of Washington's recreational land use immunity statute, RCW 4.24.210. Can a property owner claim immunity under the statute if they charge "a fee of any kind" for the use of their land? Or more succinctly asked, can a property owner, who charges money for patrons to use their property, claim statutory immunity for injuries that occur on a path to the restrooms?

Division II has issued two published decisions³ on substantially the same facts yet has reached two different legal conclusions. And at least one of those decisions is at odds with the Federal District Court's interpretation of the recreational use immunity statute.⁴ This Court's intervention is therefore necessary to resolve the conflict.

The case also raises issues of substantial public interest.

The immunity statute was adopted to encourage landowners to open their land to the public "free of charge" by abolishing the common

² Robert Frost, The Road Not Taken.

³ Plano v. City of Renton, 103 Wn. App. 910, 14 P.3d 871 (2000).

¹ Just ask anyone with children.

⁴ Voss v. United States, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6024 (U.S. District Court for the Western District of Washington).

law duty owed to invitees, licensees, and trespassers. ⁵ But the Legislature did not intend to provide immunity to those property owners who charge a fee.

Here, the Port of Skamania County ("Port") charged a fee for the use of its park and is therefore not entitled to immunity for injuries that occur within that portion of the property. But the trial court and Division II found either that the bathroom facilities that serve the park were not a "necessary an integral" part of the "fee generating" areas of the park, or because there were two alternative paths leading to the same restroom facility, the Port was not liable for either path. How can a patron, or even a property owner, truly understand this distinction?

The Legislature passed the recreational immunity statute to encourage landowners to open their land for recreational use while encouraging those who charge a fee to use the revenue to provide reasonably safe conditions.⁶ Unless this Court accepts review and provides clarity, Division II's published opinion will not only set a dangerous precedent for the public -- and those who pay a fee and expect reasonably safe conditions, it will create confusion to landowners who seek protection under the immunity statute.

⁵ Jewels v. City of Bellingham, 183 Wn.2d 388, 394, 353 P.3d 204 (2015). ⁶ RCW 4.24.200.

II. <u>IDENTITY OF PETITIONER</u>

Petitioner, John A. Hively ("Hively"), was the plaintiff at the trial court level and the petitioner in Division II.

III. <u>CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>

On September 26, 2012, Hively sued the Port of Skamania County ("Port") for negligence. The Port claimed immunity under RCW 4.24.210. Both sides moved for summary judgment.

The trial court granted the Port's Motion and found that because the injury occurred on one of two paths to the restroom, the Port was entitled to immunity. This resulted in the trial court dismissing Hively's lawsuit.

Hively appealed. Division II initially issued an unpublished decision but later ordered the portion of its decision relating to whether the paths were a "necessary and integral" part of the fee generating portion of the park be published. A copy of the Court's decision is attached as **Appendix A**.

IV. <u>ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW</u>

This case presents the following issue:

A property owner is only immune under the recreational statute (RCW 4.24.210) if they charge no fee "of any kind" to use their property.

The Port charges a fee to those who want exclusive use of its park or for certain events. The Port also charges for the use of a dock. The park and dock are served by a restroom facility. Two paths

lead to the restroom facility; one leads to the women's side and the other leads to the men's side.

While walking on one of the two paths, the Plaintiff tripped over a pothole or wrinkles in the blacktop. The Port admits that the restrooms were an integral part of the park.

Is the Port entitled to statutory immunity under the statute for an injury that occurred on one of the two paths that lead to the restroom facilities?

V. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. <u>Hively trips and falls on a poorly maintained public path</u> leading to the park's public restrooms.

On September 26, 2009, Hively traveled to Stevenson, Washington to scatter his son's ashes⁷ along the Columbia River at the Port's Waterfront Park (the park).⁸

Hively walked through the park down a wide paved area that ended at the pier/dock. He then continued east upon a paved path that led to the park's bathroom facilities. 10

After taking a few steps, Hively tripped and fell to the ground shattering his cheek bone and sustaining other serious injuries.¹¹ He had

⁷ His son had tragically committed suicide a few weeks before this incident.

⁸ CP 152 and 170.

⁹ CP 152 and 170.

¹⁰ CP 152, 170, and 171.

¹¹ CP 152, 153, and 171.

tripped over a pothole or other wrinkle in the blacktop, caused by the roots of the nearby trees. 12

Hively tripped well before the steps leading to the park's restrooms. ¹³ Hively never noticed the potholes, or the uneven nature of the path, because he expected no hazards to be on the asphalt pathway. ¹⁴

B. The Port is responsible for the waterfront park and charges a fee for its use.

The Port owns the property where Hively fell.¹⁵ The property is comprised of a park, boat dock and various paths. The park and dock are served by a centrally located public restroom building, which the Port also constructed, manages, operates, and controls.¹⁶ There are two paved paths that lead to the bathrooms; one to the women's side while the other serves the men's side. Hively fell on the path that leads to the men's side.

C. While generally open to the public, the Port charges fees for certain uses of the Waterfront property.

The Port's Park is generally open to the public without fee.¹⁷ However, the Port's Manager, John McSherry, testified the Port charges mooring fees to those that moor their boats or ships¹⁸ at the Stevenson

¹³ CP 153, 171, and 172.

¹² CP 153 and 171.

¹⁴ CP 153, 171, and 172.

¹⁵ CP 149, 150, 179, 183, and 184.

¹⁶ CP 150, 180, and 202.

¹⁷ CP 150 and 179

¹⁸ Various Columbia River cruise ships moor at the dock to allow its guests to debark to enjoy the local amenities.

Pier. 19 Those embarking or disembarking a boat or ship moored at the dock must use one of the two paths—including the path where Hively was injured—to access the restrooms.²⁰

The Manager further testified that the Port regularly rents out exclusive use of the Park for events such as wedding parties, reunions, public events, and other activities "for a fee." And while this rent may not include exclusive use of the entire Waterfront property, Mr. McSherry repeatedly testified that the restrooms are considered an "integral part" of the entire property, including those areas that generate fees.²²

The Manager further admitted there are directional signs to the bathrooms for those using the park or dock—including those paying customers.²³ This includes the path where Hively was injured.

D. **Procedural Posture**

The trial court granted the Port's Motion for Summary 1. Judgment.

The Port claimed immunity under the recreational use statute and successfully moved for summary judgment. In announcing his decision, the trial judge "found" that because the restrooms could be reached by one of two paths, and because the restrooms were "sufficiently attenuated"

¹⁹ CP 150, 180, and 209.

²⁰ CP 150 and 180.

²¹ CP 150, 151, 180, and 208.

²² CP 151, 180, 204, and 213.

²³ CP 151, 180, and 204.

from the fee generating areas of the property (i.e., the park), the Port was entitled to absolute immunity.²⁴ The Court therefore dismissed Hively's lawsuit.²⁵

2. Division II affirms trial court's decision.

Division II, in a partially published decision (Hively only seeks review of the published portion of the decision), affirmed the trial court's dismissal of Hively's complaint. Division II found that the pathway where Hively was injured was not a "necessary" component of the fee generating areas of the Port.²⁶ It reasoned that because a person is "not required to pay" to use the path leading to the bathroom, the Port was entitled to immunity.

Hively seeks discretionary review on the ground that the path to the bathroom facility should be considered an integral part of the fee generating portions of the Port's Property (i.e., the park and the dock).

²⁶ Opinion at 5-6.

²⁴ Verbatim Report of Proceedings page 9 line 2 and page 10 lines 23-24 ("My finding is that the restroom can be reached by other access routes.")

²⁵ CP 134-137

VI. <u>ARGUMENTS</u>

A. The Supreme Court should accept review because (1) the courts have issued different rulings on substantially similar facts and (2) issues of substantial public interest are at stake.

Hively seeks discretionary review of Division II's published opinion under RAP 13.4(b)(1) and (4).

First, the opinion here conflicts with Division II's decision in *Plano v. City of Renton*, 103 Wash. App. 910, 14 P.3d 871 (2000) and the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington's opinion in *Voss v. United States*, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6024 (2006).

Second, left unchecked, the decision in this case will create a dangerous precedent for those citizens who pay to use property and reasonably expect that the conditions of the premises will be reasonably safe. The various and conflicting opinions will also leave property owners guessing at whether they are or are not entitled to immunity under the recreational use statute.

The Court should therefore grant review.

A. Washington's recreational immunity statute only applies to those property owners who don't charge a "fee of any kind."

The Legislature passed the recreational immunity statute to encourage landowners to open their land for recreational use.²⁷ In so

- 8 -

²⁷ RCW 4.24.200

doing, the Legislature carved out a limited exception to the common law "public purpose" invitee liability doctrine²⁸ by exempting outdoor recreation users from those to whom a duty was owed.²⁹ The Legislature intended for the statute to "encourage owners or others in lawful possession and control of land and water areas or channels to make them available to the public for recreational purposes by limiting their liability toward persons entering thereon."³⁰

However, the Legislature also made clear its intent for this immunity to be limited to those landowners that **did not** charge a "fee of any kind" for the use of their property.³¹ In creating this *exception to the exception*, the Legislature recognized that landowners charging fees should continue to be held to the common law's duty of care.³²

It's reasonable to expect those charging a fee will use at least a portion of the revenue to make their property safe for their patrons.

-

Under Washington's common law, a landowner's duty of care to persons on the land is governed by the entrant's common law status as an invitee, licensee or trespasser. *Tincani v. Inland Empire Zoological Society*, 124 Wn.2d 121, 128, 875 P.2d 621 (1994) and *Ertl v. Parks & Recreation Comm'n*, 76 Wn. App. 110, 113, 882 P.2d 1185 (1994). Generally, a landowner owes trespassers and licensees only the duty to refrain from willfully or wantonly injuring them, whereas to invitees the landowner owes an affirmative duty to use ordinary care to keep the premises in a reasonably safe condition. *Ertl*, 76 Wn. App. at 113 and *Van Dinter v. City of Kennewick*, 121 Wn.2d 38, 41-42, 846 P.2d 522 (1993). In regard to invitees, this includes an affirmative duty to inspect the premises and discover dangerous conditions. *Davis v. State*, 144 Wn.2d 612, 616, 30 P.3d 460 (2001).

²⁹ Camicia v. Howard S. Wright Constr. Co., 179 Wn.2d 684, 695, 317 P.3d 987 (2014).

³⁰ RCW 4.24.200 (statement of purpose)

³¹ RCW 4.24.210

³² For an in-depth discussion regarding the status (invitee, a licensee, or a trespasser) of a plaintiff, please see CP 156.

Patrons have a reasonable expectation that the premises will be reasonable safe, including the paths to the restrooms.

A landowner who charges a fee to any user must treat all users entering upon the land as invitees.³³ This rule applies whether the particular person that suffered the injury paid or not.³⁴

Washington courts have also determined that because immunity is not favored in the law, statutes that grant immunity should be narrowly construed.³⁵ No intent to change the common law will be found unless it appears with clarity.³⁶ In addition, because recreational use immunity is an affirmative defense, the landowner must carry the burden of proving entitlement under the statute.³⁷ Any doubt should be construed against immunity.

In summary, the Legislature only intended to relieve those landowners from common law liability who allow free access to their lands for recreational purposes. The Legislature, however, did not intend to grant immunity to those property owners who actually receive some

³³ An invitee is owed the duty of reasonable care to prepare and make the premises safe, and landowners further owe invitees an affirmative duty to discover dangerous conditions. Thus, the duties owed to an invitee are different than those owed to a licensee. Mucsi v. Graoch Assocs. P'ship # 12, 144 Wn.2d 847, 31 P.3d 684 (2001)

³⁴ Plano v. City of Renton, 103 Wash. App. 910, 914, 14 P.3d 871 (2000)

Tennyson v. Plum Creek Timber Co., 73 Wash. App. 550, 557, 872 P.2d 524 (1994)
 McNeal v. Allen, 95 Wn.2d 265, 269, 621 P.2d 1285 (1980)

³⁷ Camicia v. Howard S. Wright Constr. Co., 179 Wn,2d 684, 693, 317 P.3d 987 (2014)

economic benefit from those who enter their property ("invitees"). This applies to whether the particular plaintiff paid the fee or not.

B. The Decision here conflicts with other decisions.

Here, the trial court granted summary judgment because it found the path leading to the restroom was "sufficiently attenuated" from the park (i.e., the fee generating area of the property) to entitle the Port to immunity. The trial judge also found that, because there were two paths leading to the restroom facility, neither path was a "necessary or integral part" of the park or dock. The Court of Appeals upheld this decision because people could use the bathrooms without paying a fee.

But these decisions are at odds with what Division II decided in *Plano* or what the Federal District Court concluded in *Voss*.

In *Plano*, the plaintiff suffered injuries when she slipped and fell on a public ramp that led to a moorage dock at a public park owned by the City of Renton. It was undisputed that, when the plaintiff fell, she had not paid, nor was she required to pay, any fee to be on the City's property. It was also undisputed that the City charged no fee to enter the park, to use most of the park's facilities, or to enter or walk on the ramp where the plaintiff was injured. The area where the plaintiff was injured was open to the public and that the plaintiff was simply a non-paying member of the public when she was injured.

However, the City charged a fee for certain users of the public dock—those that moored their boats overnight. Day users were not charged a fee and it was undisputed that no fee was charged for the public to use the ramp or park. But because it found the ramp was a "necessary and integral part" of the dock, the court concluded that, while the particular plaintiff was merely a non-paying member of the public, the City was not entitled to statutory immunity. Also key, at least for the case at hand, is that the City of Renton has two separate ramps that led to the dock:

Renton charges a fee for the use of the particular area where *Plano*'s injury occurred--the ramp leading to the dock.... But the metal ramp where *Plano* fell is a necessary and integral part of the moorage. The reason why the two ramps and the connecting gangways exist is to provide access to the floating dock, a fee-generating portion of the park.... These facts establish that the ramp where the injury occurred is in the recreational area for use of which Renton charges a fee.³⁸

Initially, it is important to note that the areas in questions are not separated by far distances. The areas are close and separated by mere feet. This is an important fact because the case³⁹ cited for the proposition that a "landowner may charge a fee to use part of its land and maintain immunity for recreational use of the remainder of the land" involved a portion of the landowner's property that was far and distant from the fee generating area.

³⁸ *Plano*, 103 Wash. App. 910, 915

³⁹ Kleer v. United States, 761 F.2d 1492 (11th Cir. 1985).

Like the plaintiff in *Plano*, Hively was injured while walking on one of the two pathways that led from the park and boat dock (fee generating areas of the property) to the restrooms. It is difficult to understand how Division II can reach different legal conclusions on such similar facts. How can a path to the only restroom not be considered an integral part of the park or the dock?

Division II's decision also conflicts with the Western District Court's decision in *Voss*. There, a family traveled to the Gifford Pinchot National Forest on vacation. After parking their car at the parking lot, and not leaving the required \$5.00 fee, the family walked a half-mile from the picnic area down a trail to the banks of the Muddy River. While there, one of the minor children slipped and fell into the river. His father jumped in to save his son, but both tragically fell to their deaths over a downstream waterfall. The family sued the Forest Service for negligence.

The US government filed for summary judgment claiming immunity under Washington's recreational use statute. The plaintiff argued that because the government charged a fee, the statute did not apply. The Government claimed the waterfall was not part of the fee generating portion of the property.

The court denied the motion because it could not determine whether the \$5.00 fee -- which the family did not pay-- was a fee to park

the vehicle or was intended to cover the area where the accident occurred. The court therefore denied the government's motion for summary judgment and ruled that the question of whether the fee was for use of the portion of the land where the father and son died, was a question of fact for the jury to decide.

Similarly, the Port here charges a fee to those who wish to have exclusive use of Teo Park. Using the park includes the use of the bathroom facilities. Moreover, those who embark and debark boats moored at the fee-generating dock also have access to the restroom facilities.

Therefore at minimum, the questions of whether the bathroom facilities or the pathway where Hively was injured are necessary and integral parts of the park or the dock are questions of fact that should not have been resolved by summary judgment.

C. <u>Division II's Opinion creates (1) a dangerous precedent</u> for patrons who reasonably expect facilities to be safe and (2) doubt for those property owners who seek indemnification.

Trying to distinguish the holdings from the three opinions outlined above is daunting and provides less than clear guidelines on when a property owner is entitled to immunity. Division II's ruling will also place at risk those patrons who expect that part of their fee will be used to provide safe conditions.

In *Plano*, Division II wisely ruled that the fact that the particular plaintiff paid no fee and was injured in an area outside the "fee generating portions" of the City of Renton's property was irrelevant. Once a property owner charges "a fee of any kind," they must be held to the common law standard for premise liability, whether the injured party was a paying patron or not.

A logical reason for this interpretation is to require the property owner to use at least a portion of the collected fees to make their property reasonably safe to those that use the property, regardless of whether that person paid or not. The statute looks at the responsibility of the property owner and not those using the property.

For example, assume a person attends a wedding at the Port's park where the bride and groom have paid a fee to have exclusive use of the park. During the reception, an attendee, needing to use the restroom, walks down the path and trips over the same pot holes that Mr. Hively tripped and fell over. Assume further he suffered the same injuries as Mr. Hively. Would the immunity statute protect the Port?

Or consider someone who pays a fee to attend a Port-sponsored concert at the park. Would the Port deny liability to this paying customer because they were injured on the path leading to the restroom?

And finally, assume a family is enjoying the park on a Sunday afternoon. Assume they are not required to pay a fee because the park is not being rented out. Would the Port be able to escape liability if one of their children was badly injured on their way to or back from the restroom just because those particular users paid no fee?

The three opinions outlined could result in different conclusions under the three similar scenarios. Patrons and property owner must guess at whether a property owner, who charges a fee for a portion of their property, is or is not liable for the amenities associated with that property. Left in-tact, Division II's opinion creates confusion for the lower courts, property owners, patrons and their lawyers. This Court should accept review to provide badly needed clarity on how the immunity statute should be construed.

VII. CONCLUSION

Property owners that charge a fee for the use of their property are not entitled to immunity under the recreational use statute. The Port charges a fee for the exclusive use of its park or for those who wish to use the boat dock.

Mr. Hively was hurt on a regularly traveled path that led from the fee generating portions of the Port's property to the sole restroom facility

that serves these areas. This path also provided the main access to and from the Port's east parking lot.

The restrooms are an integral part of the park and boat dock.

Therefore, the Port should not have been granted immunity for an injury that occurred on the path to the restroom.

This Court should therefore accept review to clarify the law and to resolve the conflict amongst the lower courts.