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

III. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES 

A. Standard of Review 

A summary judgment order is reviewed de novo, with the appellate 

court engaging in the same inquiry as the trial court. Highline School 

District No. 401 v. Port of Seattle, 87 Wn.2d 6, 15, 548 P.2d 1085 (1976). 

Summary judgment is proper if the records filed with the trial court show 

"there is no genuine issue as to any material fact" and "the moving party is 

entitled to a judgment as a matter of law" CR 56(c). 

B. Operation of and policy behind RCW 4.24.210 

Washington's recreational use immunity statute, RCW 4.24.21 0, 

states, in pertinent part: 

[A]ny public or private landowners ... or others in lawful 
possession and control of any lands ... who allow members 
of the public to use them for the purposes of outdoor 
recreation, which term includes, but is not limited to, 
picnicking, swimming, hiking . . . winter or water sports, 
viewing or enjoying historical, archeological, scenic or 
scientific sites, without charging a fee of any kind therefor, 
shall not be liable for unintentional injuries to such users. 
(emphasis added). 

This statute creates an exception to the common law regarding 

premises liability, particularly with respect to the duty owed to public 
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invitees. Camicia v. HowardS. Wright Construction Company, 179 Wn.2d 

684, 694, 317 P.3d 987 (2014). The legislative purpose behind 

RCW 4.24.210 is to immunize landowners who allow members of the 

public to use certain lands "for the purposes of outdoor recreation" from 

liability from most injuries. !d. The statute carves out an exception to the 

common law "public purpose" invitee doctrine by exempting a particular 

"public purpose"-outdoor recreation. ld. The legislature expressly 

intended that the statute would "encourage owners or others in lawful 

possession and control of land and water areas or channels to make them 

available to the public for recreational purposes by limiting their liability 

for persons entering thereon." I d. at 695, citing RCW 4.24.21 0. The statute 

applies to public parks and trails. See eg. Jewels v. City of Bellingham, 183 

Wn.2d388,353P.3d204(2015); VanDinterv. CityofKennewick, 121 Wn. 

2d. 38, 846, P.2d 522 (1993); Swinehart v. City of Spokane, 145 Wn. App. 

836, 187, P.3d 345 (2008); Riksem v. City ofSeatte, 47 Wn. App. 506, 736 

P2d 275 (1987); 

C. The Subject Trail Was Open to Members of the Public, For 
Recreational Purposes and No Fee of Any Kind Was Charged 
for the Public's Use of the Trail 

As a threshold matter, for immunity under RCW 4.24.210 to apply, 

the land in question must be "(1) open to members of the public (2) for 

recreational purposes and (3) no fee of any kind was charged." Camicia, 
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179 Wn.2d at 695-96, citing Cregan v. Fourth Mem 'I Church, 175 Wn.2d 

279, 284, 285 P.3d 860 (2012). See also, Jewels v. City of Bellingham, 183 

Wn.2d 388, 394, 353 P3d 204 (2015). 

Here, the trail where the accident occurred was open to members of 

the public for recreational purposes. Further, no fee has ever been charged 

to members of the public for using path/trail. Thus, the basic requirements 

for application of the statute set forth in RCW 4.24.210(1) are met. 

As he did before the trial court and Court of Appeals, in his Petition 

Hively persistently argues the statute does not apply because the Port 

charges a fee for specific uses of certain areas of park property, such as the 

moorage fee charged to cruise boat operators for docking at the Stevenson 

Landing Pier. This argument was properly rejected by the trial court and 

Court of Appeals. 

A landowner may charge a fee for something other than use of the 

land, and still enjoy recreational use immunity. Plano v. City of Renton, 103 

Wn. App. 910, 914, 14 P.3d 871 (2000), citing Jones v. United States, 693 

F .2d 1299 (9th Cir. 1982) where the plaintiff injured herself in the Hurricane 

Ridge area of Olympic National Park while snow sledding on an inner tube 

she had rented from the park for a fee, the inner tube rental fee was not a 

fee charged for the entrance upon or use of the land on which the injury 

occurred). 
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Also, a landowner may charge a fee for public use of a portion of its 

recreational land without losing immunity for public use of the remainder. 

In Plano at 914, citing Kleer v. United States, 761 F.2d 1492 (lith Circ. 

1985) where the plaintiff was injured while diving from a bridge in an 

undeveloped portion of the Ocala National Forest, recreational immunity 

statute applied despite the fact that the government charged fees in 

developed areas of the National Forest). 

In Plano, supra, the injury occurred on a metal ramp leading to a 

boat moorage dock. The defendant, the City of Renton, charged fees to 

boaters using the moorage. Two metal ramps extending from the shore to 

the dock were the only means of access to the dock by someone on foot. 

Thus, anyone accessing or departing the dock on foot by necessity had to 

use the metal ramp. Because the court considered the metal ramp to be an 

"integral part" of the dock for which the City of Renton charged user fees, 

the court held the recreational immunity statute did not apply. 

Hively strains to bring this case within the scope of Plano by 

attempting to tie the path/trail to the public restroom. The argument is that, 

because the restroom is "integral" to the public's use of the pier and/or Tao 

Park and because the portion of the path/trail where the accident occurred 

can be used to access the restroom, immunity does not apply. This argument 

should be rejected for a number of reasons. First, the accident did not occur 
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in the restroom. Second, the Port does not charge members of the public a 

fee to use the restroom. Third, persons using the restroom are not required 

to walk over that portion of that path/trail where the accident happened. 

Fourth, neither passengers who disembark a ferry docked at the pier or 

persons using Tao Park are required to use the restroom. Fifth, and finally, 

the logical extension of Hively's argument is that if some portion of 

recreational-use property, like a park, is occasionally rented out for a fee, 

and a restroom is located somewhere on the property that is open to all users 

of the entire property free of charge, the statute does not apply. That would 

be an absurd result. Statutes should be construed to avoid strained, absurd 

or unlikely consequences. Ski Acres Inc. v. Kittitas County, 118 Wn.2d 852, 

857, 827 P.2d 1000 (1992). 

InmanywaysthiscaseislikeK/eerv. US., 761 F.2d 1492(11thCir. 

1985), cited in Plano, supra. In Kleer the Court held that, under Florida's 

recreation use statute, immunity was not abrogated simply because the 

defendant charged a fee for entry to or use of one area of the property, 

stating: 

The statute seeks to effectuate its purpose by limiting the 
liability of those landowners who make their land available 
to the public without charge. Kleer argues that the intent of 
the exception found at subsection (2)(b) is to deny the 
statute's protection to landowners who either charge a fee 
for use, or conduct commercial activity on, any part of their 
land. Kleer overlooks two important points. First, the phrase 
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"park area" denotes something less than the entire parcel of 
land. Second, under Kleer's construction of subsection 
(2)(b), a landowner could invoke the protection of the statute 
only if his entire parcel of land was dedicated to the public, 
without compensation. Clearly, this construction of the 
statute would not encourage landowners to make their land 
available to the public. 

Kleer's analysis of the statute is contrary both to the "plain 
meaning" of the language of the statute and to the express 
purpose of the statute." (emphasis added). 

761 F.2d at 1495. 

The instant case is also similar to Zuk v. U.S, 698 F.Supp. 1577 

(S.D. Fla. 1988). There, the plaintiff, a visitor to Fort Jefferson National 

Monument, was injured when he fell off an open arch while participating in 

a self-guided tour of the Fort property. No fees were charged for entrance 

or admission to Fort Jefferson. The plaintiff claimed Florida's recreational 

immunity statute did not apply, however, because the federal government 

charged a $50 fee for two-year special use permits used by charted sea 

planes as well as fishing and dive boats. Books, postcards and photographs 

were also sold on the premises by a non-profit cooperating organization, 

revenues of which went to the non-profit. The plaintiff argued, among other 

things, that these fees and commercial activities prevented application of 

Florida's recreational immunity statute. The court rejected this argument, 

stating: 

The clear intent of Florida statute section 375-251 is, by it 
terms, to encourage persons to make their land available to 
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the public for outdoor recreational purposes by limiting the 
liability of those persons. (citation omitted). Plaintiffs 
construction of the statute is contrary to the very purpose of 
Florida statute section 371-251. See Kleer, 761 F.2d at 1495. 
In the present case, it is undisputed that no commercial 
activity took place in the distinct area of Fort Jefferson where 
plaintiff sustained injuries. As such, the "commercial 
activity" exception to the Florida recreational use statute 
does not apply to bar the statute's application in the instant 
case. Kleer, supra. 

Therefore, since no fee is charged by the government for 
entrance to or for use of the park and no "commercial 
activity" occurred in the distinct area where plaintiff was 
injured, Florida statute section 375.251 applies to bar the 
instant FTCA action. 

698 F.Supp. at 1582. 

Hively contends the Court of Appeals' Decision conflicts with 

Plano, supra, and Voss v. United States, 2006 WL 233746 (WD Wash). But 

the decision is consistent with Plano for the reasons set forth above. 

As for Voss, in that case a family visited the Lava Canyon recreation 

site in the Gifford Pinchot National Forest. As a condition of entering the 

recreation site, the family was required to purchase a Northwest Forest Pass 

"Day Pass" and display the permit on their vehicle. Tragically, while using 

the recreation area, two members of the family fell into the muddy river and 

were swept to their deaths. 

In the wrongful death case against it, the United States asserted 

immunity under RCW 4.24.21 0. The plaintiff argued the statute did not 

apply because the "Day Pass" was a fee charged for the public's use of the 
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property where the accident occurred. The United States countered that the 

"Day Pass" was a parking fee only, not a usage fee for the property, relying 

on a line of cases holding that parking fees do not abrogate recreational 

immunity. 

The trial court denied that United States' motion for summary 

judgment, ruling an issue of fact existed as to whether the "Day Pass" was 

a parking fee or a fee for use of the property at issue. 

In the instant case, again the Port does not charge a fee of any kind 

to members of the public for their use of the riverbank path/trail where the 

accident occurred. Accordingly, Voss is inapposite. 

Finally, Hively argues the Court of Appeals decision creates 

confusion for landowners and the users of park property as to when 

immunity applies. To the contrary, the Court of Appeals decision clarifies 

that immunity is lost only when the area where the accident occurs is 

integral to the area of the property for which a fee is charged. The Court of 

Appeals Opinion also informs land owners and members of the public that 

immunity under the recreational use statute is not lost simply because 

portions of park property are occasionally rented out, and there is a free 

public restroom also located somewhere on park property. 
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D. Whether the Port Charged a Fee for Use of the Premises at Issue 
Was a Question for the Court 

Hively continues to assert that whether the Port charged a fee for use 

ofthe path/trail at issue is a question of fact for a jury. On this point, Hively 

relies again on Voss, supra. That reliance is also misplaced. In Voss, the 

court simply held it could not resolve on summary judgment whether the 

"Day Pass" purchased by the family was a fee for use of the Lava Canyon 

Recreation site, or merely a parking fee. Here, there was no fee of any kind 

charged for use of the path/trail or the public restroom Hively attempts to 

tie to the areas where the Port sometimes charges a fee. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing argument and authorities, the Port